

# Rules of Procedure of the Executive Board



# Rules of Procedure of the Executive Board

► The Rules of Procedure of the Executive Board were adopted by the Executive Board at its First Session on 14 December 1977. The Executive Board amended Rules 1, 2.2, 12.4, 14, 18, 19.1, 20.3, 23 and 24 of the Rules of Procedure at its Fifty-Fourth Session on 13 April 1995. These amendments entered into force on 20 February 1997.

### Destinations tons

- (a) "Fund" means the International Fund for Agricultural Development;
- (**b**) "Agreement" means the Agreement Establishing the Fund, as it may be amended from time to time;
- (c) "Governing Council" means the Governing Council of the Fund;
- (d) "Board" means the Executive Board of the Fund;
- (e) "member" means member of the Board, but does not include alternate members except where otherwise specified;
- (f) "alternate" means alternate member of the Board;
- (g) "principal" means the member whose rights an alternate may exercise pursuant to Rule 24;
- (h) "President" means the President of the Fund;
- (i) "Vice-President" means the Vice-President of the Fund, if any, appointed by the President;
- (j) "cooperating international organization" means the United Nations and any organization referred to in Article 8.2 of the Agreement with which agreements or working arrangements have been established;
- (k) "cooperating institution" means any institution with which an agreement has been concluded that provides for its participation in the work of the Board.

### RULE 2 Convening of Sessions

- **1.** Sessions of the Board shall be called by the President as often as the business of the Fund may require.
- **2.** The Board shall also be called into session:
  - (a) by decision of the Governing Council;
  - (b) by decision of the Board; or
  - (c) at the request of members representing at least one-third of the total number of votes in the Executive Board.

### **RULE 3** Place of Sessions

All sessions of the Board shall be held at the seat of the Fund, except for sessions held in conjunction with a session of the Governing Council held elsewhere.

### **RULE 4** Notification of Sessions

- 1. Except in special circumstances, the President shall inform each member and alternate of the opening date, place and expected duration of a session no less than thirty days in advance of its commencement.
- **2.** A cooperating international organization or institution whose attendance at a meeting of the Board is expressly desired by the Executive Board shall be informed as soon as possible of the date and time thereof.
- **3.** Notifications under this rule may be issued by any suitable means, including cable or telex.

### RULE 5 Agenda

- **1.** The President shall prepare a proposed agenda for each session of the Board, which shall include all items requiring consideration by the Board during the session.
- **2.** The President shall communicate the proposed agenda to all members and alternates. The proposed agenda shall normally be transmitted together with the notification referred to in Rule 4.
- **3.** Any matter not included in the proposed agenda may be presented by the President or by a member or alternate for inclusion in the agenda to be adopted by the Board at least seven days before the beginning of the session.
- **4.** During the session the Board may revise the agenda by adding, deleting, deferring or amending items.

### **RULE 6** Distribution of Documents

The documents relating to a proposal to be considered by the Board shall, as far as possible, be distributed to the members and alternates at least thirty days in advance of the meeting at which such proposal is to be considered. <sup>1</sup>

At the Fifteenth Session of the Executive Board on 2 April 1982, the President assured the Executive Board that the following will be observed:

<sup>&</sup>quot;(a) Documents are to be dispatched during a period of from six weeks to four weeks in advance of a given session of the Executive Board. However, not more than two President's Reports on projects are to be included in the last dispatch four weeks prior to the beginning of a session.

<sup>(</sup>b) The four-week dispatch limit with respect to documents presented for and requiring action by the Executive Board at a session shall not be exceeded. However, if necessary, information relating to matters that do not require decisions by the Board, or additional information regarding projects, may be provided subsequently."

## III. Representation and Attendance at Members and Alternates

Each member and alternate attending a session of the Board shall be represented by the representative whose name shall be communicated to the President by the official channel established by the State concerned. The President shall circulate lists of such representatives, from time to time, with such changes as are communicated to him. <sup>2</sup>

### **RULE 8** Attendance at Meetings

In addition to the representatives of members and alternates and the President, the meetings of the Board shall be open only to such staff members of the Fund as the President may, from time to time, designate for that purpose. The Board may also invite representatives of cooperating international organizations and institutions or any person, including the representatives of other Members of the Fund, to present views on any specific matter before the Board.<sup>3</sup>



The President shall be Chairman of the Board and shall participate in its meetings without the right to vote.

### **RULE 10** Acting Chairman

- 1. In the absence of the President, the Board shall elect a representative of a member to act as Chairman for that meeting. The representative, acting as Chairman, shall participate in the Board meeting in that capacity and not as the representative of a member; nevertheless, he may exercise his right to vote.
- At its First Session on 14 December 1977, the Executive Board noted that membership of the Executive Board consisted of the Member States of IFAD. Each Member State and Alternate Member State would nominate one representative, who will be expected to serve for the full tenure of that State's membership. However, if for any particular reason a member or alternate wanted to change its representative on the Board, that member could do so. If a member could not attend a particular meeting due to sudden sickness or some other unexpected reason, then in such a situation an alternate could take the seat of the member during the absence of the latter.
- 3 At its Sixty-Second Session on 3 December 1997, the Executive Board elaborated on Rule 8 to include, at the President's discretion, one observer to attend any particular session of the Board. These observers will be admitted upon the request of either a Member State represented on the Board or of an organization/institution. Such invitations will be extended only once per person.

**2.** During the meeting, the Chairman, acting as such, shall have the same powers in the Executive Board as the President when acting as Chairman of the Executive Board.

### BORULE 11 Establishment, Reports, Rules of Procedure

- **1.** The Board may establish committees and other subsidiary bodies from among its members and refer to them any question for study and report. The President, with the approval of the Board, shall appoint members of such bodies. Each committee shall elect its chairman.
- **2.** Committees and other subsidiary bodies shall not vote but shall submit reports setting out the different views expressed in the body.
- **3.** Unless the Board decides otherwise, these rules shall apply, *mutatis mutandis*, to the proceedings of committees and other subsidiary bodies.

### VI. Records and



- 1. The President shall have prepared draft minutes of each meeting of the Board.
- 2. The draft minutes shall record the decisions of the Board and shall be circulated by the President to each member and alternate as soon as possible after the meeting, specifying a period within which corrections may be requested. If no such request is received within that period, the draft minutes shall be deemed to have been approved by the Board. In the event a request for corrections is received within the specified period, the President shall submit the draft minutes, together with the corrections requested, for approval to the Board at its next meeting or through other appropriate means. 4

<sup>4</sup> At its Sixth Session on 28 June 1979, the Executive Board requested the President to dispatch in the future the Minutes of the Board's sessions within one month of the conclusion of each meeting and to allow a period of one and one-half months for the receipt of any corrections to the Minutes which may be requested.

- **3.** Any representative of a member or alternate may request that the views he expressed at a meeting be recorded in the minutes thereof.
- **4.** The Secretariat shall make and keep sound recordings of the meetings of the Board and shall retain such sound recordings for a period of three years from the date on which they were made. The verbatim transcript of the sound recordings shall be kept indefinitely. Such recordings may also be made and kept of the meetings of committees and other subsidiary bodies, if so decided by the Board.

### **RULE 13** Publicity

The proceedings of the Board and of committees and other subsidiary bodies shall be confidential and shall not be published except to the extent the Board authorizes the President to arrange for suitable publicity on any item concerned.

## VII. Conduct of Business

- **1.** The quorum for any meeting of the Board shall be constituted by the representatives of members or alternates exercising two-thirds of the total number of votes in the Executive Board.
- **2.** A quorum for any meeting of a committee or other subsidiary body shall be constituted when representatives of a majority of its members are present.

### **RULE 15** General Powers of the President

- 1. In addition to exercising the powers conferred on him elsewhere by these rules, the President shall declare the opening and closing of each meeting of the Board, direct the discussions, ensure observance of these rules, accord the right to speak, put questions to the vote and announce decisions. Subject to these rules, he shall have complete control of the proceedings of the Board and over the maintenance of order at its meetings. He may propose to the Board the adjournment or closure of the debate, and the suspension or adjournment of a meeting.
- **2.** The President, in the exercise of his functions under these rules, remains under the authority of the Board.

### **RULE 16** Points of Order

- 1. During the discussion of any matter, a member may at any time raise a point of order which the President shall decide immediately in accordance with these rules. Any member may appeal against the ruling of the President. The appeal shall be put to the vote immediately and the ruling of the President shall stand unless overruled by the Board by the majority specified in Rule 19.1.
- **2.** In raising a point of order, a member may not speak on the substance of the matter under discussion or make any motion or proposal.

### **RULE 17** Motions

A member may present any of the following motions, which the President may put to the vote without or with limited debate and which shall have precedence in the indicated order over all proposals and other motions before the meeting:

- (a) to suspend the meeting;
- (**b**) to adjourn the meeting;
- (c) to adjourn the debate on the item under discussion;
- (d) to close the debate on the item under discussion;
- (e) to vote on a proposal under discussion.

### RULE 18 Voting Rights

- 1. The members shall have such number of votes as the Governing Council shall, from time to time, decide to distribute, in accordance with the principles established in Section 3(a) of Article 6 of the Agreement.
- **2.** Each representative shall be entitled to cast the votes of the member he represents. If the principal is not represented, the representative of his alternate shall be entitled to cast these votes. A representative entitled to cast the votes of more than one Member of the Fund may cast separately the votes of those Members.

### **RULE 19**

### **Majority Required**

- **1.** Except as provided in paragraph 2 below, all decisions of the Board shall be taken by a majority of three-fifths of the votes cast, provided that such majority consists of more than one-half of the total number of votes in the Executive Board.
- **2.** A decision of the Board requesting a special session of the Governing Council shall require a two-thirds majority of the votes cast.
- **3.** For the purposes of this Rule, votes cast shall mean affirmative and negative votes.

### **RULE 20** Method of Taking Decisions

- **1.** At any meeting of the Board, the President should attempt to secure a consensus on a proposal in lieu of taking a vote thereon. However, the Board shall take decisions by vote at the request of any member.
- 2. Voting shall normally be by roll-call, which shall be taken in the English alphabetical order of the names of the members, starting with the member whose name is drawn by lot by the President. The name of each member shall be called in all roll-calls, and its representative shall reply "yes", "no" or "abstention". Unless otherwise decided by the Board, the vote of each member participating in a roll-call shall be recorded.
- 3. In the exceptional cases when the Board decides that voting shall be by secret ballot, each member shall receive one or more ballot papers each indicating a specific number of votes, which shall be so distributed that: (i) papers specifying any particular number of votes shall be received by at least three members, and (ii) the total number of votes specified on the papers received by any member shall equal the number of votes he is entitled to cast; each member may indicate his vote on all the papers he receives and deposit them in the ballot boxes, from which they shall be taken and counted by tellers appointed by the President from among the members of the Board.

### **RULE 21** Explanation of Vote

Representatives of members may make brief statements consisting solely of explanation of their votes, before the announcement of the commencement of voting or after the results of the vote have been announced.

### **RULE 22** Order of Voting on Proposals

- **1.** An amendment is a proposal that does no more than add to, delete from or revise part of another proposal.
- 2. When an amendment is moved to a proposal, the amendment shall be voted on first. When two or more amendments are moved to a proposal, the amendment furthest removed in substance from the original proposal shall be voted on first and then the amendment next furthest removed and so on. If one or more amendments are adopted, the proposal as amended shall then be voted on.
- **3.** Proposals, other than amendments, relating to the same question shall be voted on in the order in which they were submitted, unless the Board decides otherwise.

### **RULE 23** Voting by Correspondence

Whenever an action must be taken by the Board that should not be postponed until its next session but does not warrant the calling of a session of the Board, the President shall transmit to each member and alternate, by any rapid means of communication, a motion embodying the proposed action with a request for each member to vote thereon. Votes shall be cast within such reasonable period as the President shall prescribe, at the expiration of which he shall record the results and notify all members and alternates. Members and alternate members may cast a "yes", "no" or "abstain" vote by submitting a written reply by facsimile transmission, telex or letter. The absence of a written reply by the deadline prescribed by the President shall not indicate an abstention but rather the absence of the member from the voting procedure and, in the event of no reply from a member, the vote of the alternate member shall prevail. The vote shall be valid if replies are received from members having at least two-thirds of the total number of votes in the Executive Board.

## IX. Alternate Merule 24 Appointment S

The members shall determine, consistent with the respective Parts of Schedule II to the Agreement, which alternate shall substitute for and exercise the rights of which member, and shall inform the President thereof, who shall circulate the list of principals and alternates.

### **RULE 25** Participation in Meetings

Representatives of alternates may speak at meetings, present proposals or motions, raise points of order or vote in the absence of their principals. In the presence of the representatives of the principals, the representatives of alternates may speak at meetings but may present proposals only with the consent of their principals.

### RULE 26 Languages of the Board

Arabic, English, French and Spanish shall be the languages of the Board. The Board may, from time to time, consider and prescribe, with a view to its most effective operation, guidelines for the interpretation of speeches and for the translation of proposals, decisions and documents.

## XI. Amendment and Suspension of Rules Method of Amendment Ocedure

These rules may be amended by the Board to the extent that such amendment is consistent with the Agreement.

### **RULE 28** Method of Suspension

These rules may be suspended by the Board to the extent that such suspension is consistent with the Agreement, provided that 24 hours' notice of the proposal for the suspension has been given, which may be waived if no member objects; committees and other subsidiary bodies may by unanimous consent waive rules pertaining to them. Any suspension shall be limited to a specific and stated purpose and to the period required to achieve it.



Enabling poor rural people to overcome poverty

International Fund for Agricultural Development

Via Paolo di Dono, 44 00142 Rome, Italy

Tel.: +39 06 54591 Fax: +39 06 5043463

E-mail: ifad@ifad.org www.ifad.org

www.ruralpovertyportal.org

